
 

Civic Centre, Paris Street, Exeter, EX1 1JN Committee.services@exeter.gov.uk 
 

 Council Website 

 

 
 
 
An EXTRAORDINARY MEETING OF THE COUNCIL will be held at the GUILDHALL, HIGH 
STREET, EXETER  on THURSDAY 18 SEPTEMBER 2025, at 5.00 pm, at which you are hereby 
summoned to attend.  
 
If you have an enquiry regarding any items on this agenda, please contact Mark Devin, Democratic 
Services Manager on 01392 265477.  
 
The following business is proposed to be transacted:-  
 
  
1    Declarations of Interest  

 Councillors are reminded of the need to declare any disclosable pecuniary 
interests that relate to business on the agenda and which have not already been 
included in the register of interests, before any discussion takes place on the 
item. Unless the interest is sensitive, you must also disclose the nature of the 
interest. In accordance with the Council's Code of Conduct, you must then leave 
the room and must not participate in any further discussion of the item. 
Councillors requiring clarification should seek the advice of the Monitoring Officer 
prior to the day of the meeting. 

 

  
2    Local Government Act 1972 - Exclusion of the Press and Public  

 It is considered that the Council would be unlikely to exclude the press and public 
during consideration of any of the items on the agenda, but if it should wish to do 
so, the following resolution should be passed:-  
 
RECOMMENDED that, under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 
1972, the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the consideration of 
the particular item(s) on the grounds that it (they) involve(s) the likely disclosure 
of exempt information as defined in the relevant paragraphs of Part 1, Schedule 
12A of the Act. 

 

 Pages 
3    Civic Centre Relocation Strategy  

 To consider the report of the Strategic Director Corporate Resources. 
 
 

3 - 8 

A plan of seating in the Guildhall is attached. 
 
Date: Wednesday 10 September 2025 

Bindu Arjoon 
Chief Executive 

 

mailto:Committee.services@exeter.gov.uk
http://www.exeter.gov.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
Date of Meeting: 18 September 2025 

Report of: Strategic Director of Corporate Resource 

Title: Civic Centre Relocation Strategy 

Is this a Key Decision?  

No 

Is this an Executive or Council Function? 

Council 

1. What is the report about? 

1.1 Members will be aware that the Council is seeking to identify an alternative civic 

centre relocation option. The is due to a requirement for modern, fit-for-purpose office 

accommodation together with enabling the release of the current Civic centre site for 

housing, to help facilitate the delivery of the Council’s Liveable Exeter vision.  

1.2 The previous Guildhall led split site relocation option is proposed to be discounted on 

the basis that further consideration and feasibility has identified it fails to deliver sufficient 

quantum of accommodation (having regard to the Council’s current flexible working 

arrangements).  

1.4 In the event the Council resolves to progress the delivery of this replacement option, 

time-sensitive tasks need to be undertaken to ensure vacant possession can be secured. 

The building is currently vacant subject to one existing tenant  who occupy the first, 

ground and basement floors. Their lease is due for renewal, and the Council would 

therefore need to ensure that vacant possession is achieved by mid-2026 should it 

approve this revised option. 

2. Recommendations:  

2.1 That Council approves in principle, the proposed office move  to Senate Court , 

subject to a further report in November 2025 which identifies the full cost and feasibility of 

the re-location.  

2.2 That the Council approves a budget of £412,000 to meet its obligations for the 

payment of the statutory compensation in securing the full vacant possession of Senate 

Court. The cost will be met from the Guildhall Shopping Centre income surplus. 

3. Reasons for the recommendation: 

3.1 Senate Court is owned by the Council and provides modern, open plan and energy 

efficient accommodation which can satisfy the Council’s entire civic centre requirement in 

a single location (including the Customer Service Centre).  

3.2 Securing a new short-term lease with the tenant at Senate Court will provide a fixed 

end date for their occupation to terminate (agreed in principle for July 2026). This, 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



together with the Council’s agreement to pay statutory compensation, will enable the 

Council to secure full vacant possession of the building as the replacement option for the 

new Civic Centre.  

3.3 The Civic Centre site is identified in the Liveable Exeter programme and forms part of 

a strategic allocation in the draft Exeter Plan as a site for future housing-led mixed-use 

development. The recommendations will advance the work required to enable the site to 

be re-developed for that purpose. 

4. What are the resource implications including non-financial 
resources 

4.1 The proposal requires the allocation of funds in the sum of £412,000 to meet the 

Council’s obligations for the payment of statutory compensation.  

4.2 As the compensation proposal, (once legally completed) will assist in achieving vacant 

possession of the existing Civic Centre site for a housing-led redevelopment scheme, it is 

appropriate to use Guildhall Shopping Centre surplus funds to finance the compensation 

payment.  

4.3 Agreeing to the proposal and securing vacant possession of Senate Court will enable 

the Council to relocate from its current accommodation, subject to further Council scrutiny 

and approval in November 2025. Alongside the obvious benefit of making the Civic 

Centre site available for housing, the relocation will also reduce running costs as Senate 

Court is a considerably more efficient building to operate.  

4.4 The feasibility assessment currently being developed for Senate Court will assess 

several options, including costing a proposal to deliver an upgraded, low carbon building 

for the Council.  

5. Section 151 Officer comments: 

5.1 The use of funds to secure vacant possession of Senate Court is an appropriate use 

of the Guildhall Shopping Centre Surplus Funds. The opportunity to relocate will allow for 

the existing Civic Centre site to be regenerated for a housing-led scheme, for the Council 

to reduce its costs and deliver a significant capital receipt. 

6. What are the legal aspects? 

6.1 The Council’s power to provide office space to discharge its functions is a subsidiary 

power under Section 111 of the Local Government Act 1972 which subject to financial 

restrictions in clause 111(3) permits a local authority to do anything which is calculated to 

facilitate or is conductive or incidental to, the discharge of any of their functions.  

6.2 The Council is the registered freehold owner of Senate Court and its current tenant 

occupies part of the premises on a secure business tenancy also known as a protected 

lease in accordance with the Landlord and Tenant Act 1954 (‘the LTA’). Pursuant to 

section 24 of the LTA the tenant has a statutory right to seek a new lease of the premises 

when the current lease expires. Until such time as a new lease is in place the existing 

lease will continue to run unless it is terminated in accordance with the statutory 

provisions set out in the LTA.  

Page 4



6.3 Upon termination of the protected lease unless the tenant is in breach of the lease 

obligations or is provided with suitable alternative accommodation the landlord is liable to 

pay the tenant statutory compensation. Statutory compensation is payable in accordance 

with section 37 of the LTA and addressed in paragraph 8 of this report.  

6.4 The Council served a notice under section 25 of the LTA which at the time of writing 

expires on 24th September 2025. If the tenant wishes to obtain a new lease it must prior 

to 24th September 2025 either issue legal proceedings claiming a new lease or agree 

with the Council an extension of time to the notice period and negotiate new terms 

without submitting the matter to the Court. 

7. Monitoring Officer’s comments: 

7.1  Members are directed to read the contents of this report which raises no concerns for 

the Monitoring Officer. 

8. Report details: 

8.1 The Civic Centre  forms part of  the Liveable Exeter Eastgate site, which also includes 

City Point (incorporating the former bus station) and the draft Exeter Plan has allocated 

this opportunity for a high quality residential-led mixed use development. In the event this 

relocation project proceeds, and the Council vacates the Civic Centre, working in 

partnership with stakeholders, the Council will have the opportunity to bring this key site 

forwards for redevelopment and in doing so enabling the delivery of a substantial city 

centre, regeneration scheme.  

8.2 The Council is currently actively engaged in assessing the redevelopment potential of 

the Eastgate site  and has commissioned a comprehensive market, feasibility and 

deliverability assessment. This preparatory work will be key to realising the potential of 

the Civic Centre site and achieving certainty around vacant possession timeframes will be 

of importance in this regard.  

8.3 The Civic Centre offices were constructed in 1972 and are widely considered no 

longer fit for purpose. The building is poorly laid out and does not enable modern ways of 

working, to operate both efficiently and effectively. In addition, the building has a high 

carbon footprint  and requires significant maintenance and repair due to its age and 

design.  

8.4 Following an earlier feasibility study, the Guildhall Shopping Centre split site solution 

(previously reported to Council on 15th October 2024) does not deliver sufficient space 

for Council office-based staff. 

8.5 During this process, it emerged that Senate Court, situated in Southernhay, would 

become predominantly vacant and was  identified as a potential alternative option. The 

building is owned by the Council, provides modern, open plan and flexible 

accommodation and is right sized, being able to accommodate up to 300 desks together 

with the broader Council requirements including committee rooms, meeting rooms, the 

Customer Service centre and staff wellbeing facilities.  

8.6 The building incorporates robust sustainability credentials and has the potential to 

achieve a high EPC B rating (currently a mid-range C). The building benefits from electric 

heating throughout, therefore, achieving the aspiration of non-gas. The fabric efficiency of 

the building is inherently sound albeit, slightly below current Building Regulations 

Page 5



(reflecting a building that is c 20 years old). The proposed upgrade project includes a PV 

array over the roof which when considered holistically contributes to the overall ECC PV 

and Net Zero aspiration strategy.  

 8.7 To evaluate this opportunity further, the Council has engaged a professional team 

(Architect, M&E, cost consultants) to develop a series of layout/utilisation and fit out 

options together with a project risk, cost and programme/delivery assessment. The 

intention is that the outcome of this feasibility study will be reported to Council in 

November 2025 seeking approval to i) the refurbishment budget and implementation of 

the upgrade works to Senate Court and ii) authority to vacate the Civic Centre site and 

relocate to Senate Court in early 2027.  

8.8 The output from the feasibility assessment to date has been encouraging and has 

demonstrated that Senate Court can provide a modern and open plan environment 

accommodating an appropriate mix of traditional office, collaborative/break out and 

meeting room work settings. Albeit investments and upgrade works are required, a 

proportion of the existing fit out can be retained (with a significant proportion of furniture 

being reutilised from the existing Civic Centre). Indicative capital costs (including major 

expenditure items such as M&E, IT installation, Roof mounted PV) fall within a range of 

£2.5m - £3m - albeit the specification is subject to further development and value 

engineering.  

8.9 Subject to further Council approval, the current delivery programme indicates that the 

Council could fully occupy Senate Court in early 2027. 

Senate Court – Vacant Possession Enabling Works  
 
8.10 Senate Court is vacant except for the part basement, ground and first floor (and 10 

car parking spaces) which is leased to a tenant  for a term expiring in March 2025 and at 

a passing rent of £315,150 pa (exclusive). Following the service of a section 25 Notice in 

mid-2024 (seeking to negotiate terms for a new lease), the tenant is currently holding 

over pending agreement of terms.  

8.11 In terms of programme, the Council is targeting practical completion of fit 

out/upgrade works to Senate Court at the end of 2026. To enable more intrusive fit out 

and mechanical/electrical upgrade works to be undertaken (which generate 

noise/disturbance and interference with building systems), it is important that full vacant 

possession is achieved by mid-summer 2026.  

8.12 The Council’s Commercial Assets team has commenced negotiations with the one 

remaining tenant  and has secured in principle agreement that full vacant possession will 

be yielded in July 2026.  

8.13 Under Section 37 of the Landlord & Tenant Act 1954 a tenant is entitled to statutory 

financial compensation for the disturbance to their rights of security of tenure where the 

landlord relies on one or more ‘no fault/compensation grounds’ to secure possession of 

that accommodation. The amount of the compensation is determined by the length of 

period the tenant has been in occupation of the premises. If the tenant has been in 

occupation for less than 14 years, the statutory compensation will be that rateable value. 

If the tenant has been in occupation for 14 years or more, then the statutory 

compensation will be twice that rateable value.  

Page 6



8.14 The tenant  has been in continuous occupation since August 2005, which is over the 

14-year threshold, and are entitled to a compensation package amounting to 2 x Rateable 

Value, which equates to £412,000.  

8.15 In order to capture the commercial agreement, Heads of Terms have been prepared. 

The key terms are as follows:  

• Simultaneous surrender of the existing lease and granting of a new lease expiring in 
July 2026, to be contracted out of the provisions of the Landlord & Tenant Act 1954  

• Immediate vacation of first floor and consolidation into ground floor and part 
basement  

• Passing rent £159,239 (payable from completion of the new lease)  

• Dilapidations settlement to be waived and no reinstatement works are to be required 
(on basis that elements of the existing fit out can be utilised by the Council)   

• The compensation sum will be paid in two instalments. 50% will be paid on surrender 
of the existing lease and 50% will be due on expiry of the new short terms of the 
ground floor.  
 

8.16 The tenant requires certainty to  commit to alternative accommodation and to be in a 

position to vacate in mid-2026. Due to a protracted negotiation with the Council, time has 

now become of the essence. 

8.17 The tenant benefits from security of tenure which, under the terms of the Landlord 

and Tenant Act 1954, entitles them to a further secure lease. Should agreement not be 

reached on terms for a new lease (or Council approval not given for the compensation 

package), the tenant is highly likely to apply to Court for the determination of a new 

tenancy. In determining the terms of a new lease, the Court will have regard to the terms 

of the existing lease and can grant a new lease for a term up to 15 years. If this was the 

outcome that transpired the Senate Court relocation option would be compromised. 

9. How does the decision contribute to the Council’s Corporate Plan? 

9.1 Achieving vacant possession of Senate Court supports the delivery of the following 

overarching strategic priorities:  

• Homes: The Civic Centre site has been identified as a Liveable Exeter strategic 

regeneration opportunity  for a high quality residential-led scheme. In the event this 

relocation project proceeds, working in partnership with stakeholders, the Council will 

have the opportunity to bring this key site forwards to the market. 

• Well Run Council: Having regard to existing running cost and repairs/maintenance 

liabilities for the Civic Centre, the move to Senate Court would enable the Council to 

meet its operational requirements whilst achieving better value for money. 

• Local Economy: The move to Senate Court would be a clear commitment by the 

Council to invest in and support the economic vitality of the city centre. Helping to 

support local business and jobs. 

• Sustainable Environment The building's improved energy efficiency credentials are 

also in closer alignment with the Council's sustainability agenda. There is also the 

opportunity to move towards a net zero building.  

10. What risks are there and how can they be reduced? 

10.1 As mentioned above, should the Council not agree terms with the tenant for a new 

lease and payment of the statutory compensation, they have the option can apply to 

Page 7



Court for a new lease for a term of up to 15 years. Should the Court grant a lease of that 

duration the Council’s opportunity to relocate to Senate Court would be compromised. 

11. Equality Act 2010 (The Act)  

11.1 Under the Act’s Public Sector Equalities Duty, decision makers are required to 

consider the need to: 

• eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other prohibited conduct; 

• advance equality by encouraging participation, removing disadvantage, taking 

account of disabilities and meeting people’s needs; and 

• foster good relations between people by tackling prejudice and promoting 

understanding. 

11.2 In order to comply with the general duty authorities must assess the impact on 

equality of decisions, policies and practices. These duties do not prevent the authority 

from reducing services where necessary, but they offer a way of developing proposals 

that consider the impact on all members of the community. 

11.3 In making decisions the authority must take into account the potential impact of that 

decision in relation to age, disability, race/ethnicity (includes Gypsies and Travellers), sex, 

gender identity, religion and belief, sexual orientation, pregnant women and new and 

breastfeeding mothers, marriage and civil partnership status in coming to a decision. 

11.4 In recommending this proposal no potential impact has been identified on people 

with protected characteristics as determined by the Act, because the transaction relates 

to the letting of commercial accommodation used for business purposes which is not 

accessible to the public. 

12. Carbon Footprint (Environmental) Implications:   

12.1 No direct carbon/environmental impacts arising from the recommendations. 

13. Are there any other options? 

13.1 None 

 

Director - Strategic Director of Corporate Resource 

Author: Ben Colman – Head of Service – Commercial Assets 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1972 (as amended) 

Background papers used in compiling this report:- 

None 

Contact for enquires:  
Democratic Services (Committees) 
Room 4.36 
01392 265275 
 

Page 8



SEATING IN THE GUILDHALL 
 

 
 

    Deputy 
Lord 

Mayor 
Councillor 
Rolstone 

(L) 

 Chief 
Executive 

 Lord Mayor 
Councillor 

Jobson (C) 
 

 Democratic 
Services 

 

 Service Lead 
Legal 

Services 

 S151 
Officer 

                

 

Democratic 
Services 
Officer 

       Strategic 
Directors 

 Strategic 
Directors 

 Strategic Directors 

 

Councillors 

 

Darling  (L) 

 

 

Atkinson (L) 

 

 

Begley (L) 

 

 

 

Harding (L) 

 

 

 

Cookson (L) 

 Councillors 

 

 Miller-Boam (L) 

 

 

Snow (L) 

 

 

Hussain (L) 

 

 

Parkhouse (L) 

 

 

Pole (L) 

 

Knott (L) 

 Councillors 

 

Bialyk (L) 

 

 

Wright (L) 

 

 

Wood  (L) 

 

 

Williams, R (L) 

 

 

Vizard (L) 
 
 
 
Foale (L) 

 

TABLE 

 Councillors 

 

Moore, (G)* 

 

Mitchell, M (LD)* 

 

Fullam (LD)* 

 

 

Read (G)* 

 

 

              Rees (G)* 

 

 

Ketchin (G)* 

 

 

 Councillors 

 

                                Holland (C) 

 

 Sheridan (C) 

 

 

Palmer (LD) * 

 

 

Banyard (G) * 

 

 

Wetenhall (G) * 

 

 

Bennett (G)* 

 
 

Cllr 

 Williams M 

(L) 

Cllr Wardle 

(L) 
 
 

Cllr 
Asvachin 

(L) 

Cllr 

Patrick (L) 

 Cllr Payne (R) 

 

Cllr 
Mitchell, K 

(LD) * 

 

Cllr Haigh 
(I)** 

Cllr Hughes (I) 
** 

 
 
 
 

P
age 9

A
genda A

nnex



   
 

 
Portfolio Holders 

 
Portfolio Holder for  

L: Labour: 22 Bialyk: Leader  
G: Green: 7* Wright Deputy Leader and Corporate Services, Community & City 

Centre 
LD: Liberal Democrat 4 * Vizard Climate, Ecological Change and Communities 
C: Conservative: 3 Williams, R City Management 
I: Independent 2 ** Asvachin Housing, Homelessness Prevention and Customer Services 
R: Reform 1 Wood Leisure Services  & Healthy Living 
   Foale Arts, Culture & Tourism 
* Known as the Progressive Group  Patrick                 City Development 
** Known as the Equity Independent 

Group 
  

Member Champions 
 
Member Champion for 

   Miller-Boam Community Safety & Engagement 
   Darling Culture & City Centre 

 

P
age 10


	Agenda
	3 Civic Centre Relocation Strategy
	 A plan of seating in the Guildhall is attached.



